In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

LEONEL CONTRERAS and WILLIAM STEVEN RODRIGUEZ,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S224564

SUPREME COURT FILED

OCT 14 2016

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Appellate District Division One, Case No. SCD236438 Deputy
San Diego County Superior Court, Case No. D063428
The Honorable Peter C. Deddeh, Judge

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Is a total sentence of 50 years to life or 58 years to life the functional equivalent of life without the possibility of parole for juvenile offenders?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jane Doe 1 and Jane Doe 2, ages 15 and 16, attended a party with Doe 1's parents at the home of one of Doe 1's relatives. At dusk, while the party was still going on, the girls went for a walk and sat down by a tree in an open space area. (3 RT 415, 420; 4 RT 546-548.) Appellants, Contreras and Rodriguez, both 16 years old, walked past them wearing dark clothing with hoods covering their heads. (3 RT 422; 4 RT 551.) A short time later, appellants tackled the girls from behind. Contreras tackled Doe 1 and Rodriguez tackled Doe 2. (3 RT 427-430, 470-473.) Contreras held a knife to Doe 1's throat. Appellants pulled the girls up and started taking them toward a street. Rodriguez covered Doe 2's mouth with his hand as she struggled to get away. Contreras repeatedly told Doe 1 to tell Doe 2 to "shut the fuck up." (3 RT 423-425, 428, 430, 470; 4 RT 551-554, 556, 560-562.) Appellants forced the girls to walk across the street, up an embankment, and into a wooded area. (3 RT 433, 470-473.)

Doe 2 continued to struggle and fight against Rodriguez. However, Doe 1, at Contreras's direction and with a knife to her neck, told Doe 2 to be quiet and stop resisting. Rodriguez tied a bandana around Doe 2's her mouth and told her he would hurt her if she screamed. (3 RT 425; 4 RT 553-554.) He took her to a dark and secluded area. Contreras took Doe 1 to a different location nearby. (3 RT 433, 470-473.)

Rodriguez took off Doe 2's shorts and underwear, got on top of her, put his penis in her vagina, and started thrusting in and out. (3 RT 433-438; 4 RT 470-473.) He told her not to scream or he would hurt Doe 1. (*Id.*) After what seemed like a long time to Doe 2, Rodriguez made her flip over.

As she lay on her stomach, he put his penis in her anus and started thrusting in and out. (*Id.*)

As Rodriguez was assaulting Doe 2, Contreras held a knife to Doe 1's throat and made her lay down. (4 RT 562.) He told her to keep her legs open, put his penis into her vagina, and started thrusting in and out. (4 RT 564-566, 568.) After a while, he took his penis out of her vagina, stood up, told her to suck it. (4 RT 567-568.) He put his penis in her mouth and pushed her head back and forth. (*Id.*) She gagged and threw up. (*Id.*) He then put his penis back into her vagina. (4 RT 568-569.) He told her to keep quiet and keep her legs open. (*Id.*)

Around this time, Rodriguez called over to Contreras and the two boys switched places. (3 RT 439; 4 RT 571.) Rodriguez vaginally raped Doe 1. (4 RT 574.) He then put his penis in her mouth and pushed her head back and forth. (4 RT 576.) He then put his penis into her anus. (4 RT 576.) After a couple of minutes, he put his penis in her mouth again and pushed her head back and forth. (4 RT 578-579.)

As Rodriguez was assaulting Doe 1, Contreras held the knife to Doe 2's neck as she lay on the ground. (3 RT 440-442.) He then put his penis into her vagina and started thrusting. (3 RT 442-443.) After some period of time, Contreras moved further up on Doe 2. (3 RT 443-444.) While holding the knife in his hand, he put his penis in her mouth and told her to suck it. (*Id.*)

At some point, Contreras asked Doe 2, "Did [Rodriguez] fuck your mouth?" (3 RT 447.) She told him no. (*Id.*) Rodriguez then brought Doe 1 over to the same place as Doe 2. (3 RT 448.) Once more, Rodriguez put his penis in Doe 1's mouth and pushed her head back and forth. (3 RT 448-449.)

Appellants instructed the girls to get dressed and warned them not to tell anyone about what had happened. (4 RT 476.) The girls walked down

the hill and to the street where they saw Doe 1's parents searching for them. (4 RT 481.)

A jury convicted Contreras of one count of conspiracy to commit kidnapping and/or forcible rape (Pen. Code, 1 § 182, subd. (a)(1); count 1); two counts of kidnapping (§ 207, subd. (a); counts 2 & 14), seven counts of forcible rape (§ 261, subd. (a)(2); counts 3, 5, 7-8, 15, 17 & 20), one count of rape by a foreign object with force (§ 289, subd. (a)(1)(A); count 4), eight counts of forced oral copulation (§ 288a, subd. (c)(2)(A); counts 6, 9, 11-13, 18-19 & 21), and two counts of sodomy by use of force (§ 286, subd. (c)(2)(A); counts 10 & 16). Numerous enhancement allegations accompanied the sexual offense counts, including that the crimes were committed during a kidnaping, that they involved multiple victims, that a deadly weapon was used, personal use of a knife, and that the offenses were subject to the "one strike" law. (2 CT 431-464.). The jury found all of the accompanying enhancements applicable, except for the multiple victim enhancements for counts 4 and 5.

The prosecution charged Rodriguez with the same offenses and enhancement allegations, except for the weapon use enhancements. A separate jury convicted Rodriguez of counts 2, 8 through 12, 14 through 16, and 21, and found the accompanying enhancement allegations applicable.³

The probation report recommended Contreras serve 450 years to life, plus 68 years. The report noted that Contreras's crimes were egregious and will have lifelong effects on his victims, and that the lengthy sentence is the

¹ Further statutory references are also to the Penal Code unless otherwise stated.

³ The jury found Rodriguez not guilty of count 4. The jury could not reach unanimous verdicts on counts 1, 3, 5 through 7, 13, and 17 through 20. The court declared a mistrial as to these counts and later dismissed them without prejudice.

only assurance that Contreras will not have the opportunity to commit such crimes again. (4 CT 990-991.) The probation report recommended Rodriguez serve 200 years to life in prison, citing the same reasons. (6 CT 1821-1822.) The prosecutor acknowledged that such lengthy sentences would be unconstitutional under *People v. Caballero* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 262 (*Caballero*) [sentence for juvenile defendant convicted of a non-homicide crime that is the "functional equivalent" of a life without parole sentence violates the Eighth Amendment], and argued that appellants should be sentenced to a 25 years to life sentence for each victim, for a total term of 50 years to life. (4 CT 890-891; 6 CT 1668.) She submitted the National Vital Statistics Reports, which calculated the life expectancy for males in the United States to be 75.60 years, and 78.39 years for Hispanic males. (4 CT 893; 6 CT 1671.)

The court agreed with the prosecutor's request and sentenced Rodriguez to a prison term of 50 years to life. The sentence consisted of consecutive terms of 25 years to life for counts 8 and 15. The court imposed concurrent terms for counts 9 through 12, 16, and 21. It stayed the sentences for counts 2 and 14 under section 654. (4 CT 969-972, 1326-1331.)

The court also sentenced Contreras to the prosecutor's requested prison term of 50 years to life, but added an additional 8 years citing Contreras's knife use during the assaults. The sentence consisted of consecutive terms of 25 years to life for counts 3 and 15, plus two consecutive 4-year terms for the weapon use enhancements accompanying those counts. The court imposed concurrent terms for counts 1, 4 through 13, and 16 through 21. It stayed the sentences for counts 2 and 14 under section 654. (6 CT 1864-1866, 1946-1948; 16 RT 2934-2935.) Hence, because Contreras would be eligible for parole at age 66, and Rodriguez

would be eligible for parole at age 74, a 50 years to life sentence would offer each appellant an opportunity for parole within his lifetime.

On appeal, appellants argued, among other things, that their sentences amount to cruel and unusual punishment because they were juveniles when they committed their crimes and their sentences do not provide them with a meaningful opportunity for parole in their lifetimes. The Court of Appeal concluded appellants' sentences constitute cruel and unusual punishment because they do not comply with the requirements set forth in *Graham v. Florida* (2010) 560 U.S. 48 (*Graham*) [prohibiting life without parole sentences for juvenile defendants convicted of non-homicide crimes], and *Caballero*, and remanded the matter for resentencing. It affirmed the judgments in all other respects.

On April 15, 2015, this court granted respondent's petition for review, deferring action pending consideration and disposition of *In re Alatriste*, S214652, *In re Bonilla*, S214960, and *People v. Franklin* (2016) 63 Cal.4th 261 (S217699). Following finality of *People v. Franklin* [availability of a youth offender parole hearing provides the inmate a meaningful opportunity for release within the juvenile's expected lifetime], and transfer for reconsideration orders in *Alatriste* and *Bonilla*, this court directed the parties in this matter to serve and file briefs addressing whether a total sentence of 50 years to life or 58 years to life is the functional equivalent of life without parole.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellants Contreras and Rodriguez each committed multiple horrific sexual offenses at the age of 16. The court sentenced them to 58 years to life and 50 years to life, respectively, pursuant to the One Strike law (§ 667.61). Penal Code section 3051 specifically excludes offenders sentenced under the One Strike law, thus, appellants are not entitled to section 3051's "youth offender parole hearings" that guarantee juvenile

offenders a meaningful opportunity for release on parole much earlier than their lengthy sentences would otherwise allow.

Nevertheless, a total term of imprisonment of 50 years or 58 years to life for multiple sexual offenses committed by a 16-year-old offender is constitutional even absent the relief afforded by section 3051 because the sentence provides the juvenile with an opportunity for parole within his or her natural lifetime, and accordingly, is not the functional equivalent of life without the possibility of parole.

ARGUMENT

I. A PRISON SENTENCE THAT AFFORDS A JUVENILE OFFENDER AN OPPORTUNITY FOR PAROLE WITHIN HIS OR HER NATURAL LIFE EXPECTANCY IS NOT THE FUNCTIONAL EQUIVALENT OF LIFE WITHOUT THE POSSIBILITY OF PAROLE, AND IS THEREFORE CONSTITUTIONAL

In Graham, the United States Supreme Court found unconstitutional the imposition of life without the possibility of parole (LWOP) sentences on juveniles for any crime other than homicide. (Graham, supra, 560 U.S. at p. 48.) Subsequently, in *Miller*, the United States Supreme Court held that states cannot impose mandatory LWOP sentences for defendants under 18 years of age, but acknowledged that such sentences were permissible for iuveniles convicted of murder so long as the sentence imposed takes into consideration "how children are different." (Miller v. Alabama (2012) 567 U.S. ____. [132 S.Ct. 2455, 2469, 183 L.Ed.2d 407].) Miller was decided in part on the determination that mandatory LWOP sentences for juveniles preclude consideration of the hallmark features of youth such as "immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate risks and consequences." (Id. at p. 2468.) Miller left open the possibility for LWOP sentences in homicide cases, specifically those where the juvenile defendant committed crimes that reflect "irreparable corruption." (Id. at p. 2469.)

In Caballero, this court recognized that Miller "requires sentencers in homicide cases 'to take into account how children are different, and how these differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison," but left "Miller's application in the homicide context to a case that poses the issue." (Caballero, supra, 55 Cal.4th at p. 268, fn. 4, italics added.) This court also encouraged legislative action to address the issue: "We urge the Legislature to enact legislation establishing a parole eligibility mechanism that provides a defendant serving a de facto life sentence without possibility of parole for nonhomicide crimes that he or she committed as a juvenile with the opportunity to obtain release on a showing of rehabilitation and maturity." (Id. at p. 269, fn. 5.)

This court, in *Franklin*, held that section 3051 brings juvenile sentencing in conformity with *Miller*, *Graham*, and *Caballero*, but expressed no opinion as to claims by juvenile offenders who are ineligible for a youthful offender parole hearing under section 3051, subdivision (h), or are serving lengthy sentences imposed under discretionary rather than mandatory sentencing statutes. (*Franklin*, *supra*, 63 Cal.4th at p. 280.)

A. A Sentence of 50 Years to Life and 58 Years to Life Imposed as to 16 Year-Old Defendants Is Not the Functional Equivalent of LWOP Because It Affords the Juvenile Offenders an Opportunity for Parole Within Their Natural Life Expectancy

Following *Miller*, *Graham*, and *Caballero*, "[t]he issue of how long someone under the age of 18 may be sentenced to prison has been the subject of considerable judicial attention." (*People v. Perez* (2013) 214 Cal.App.4th 49, 55) (*Perez*). This court should adopt the following rule: any term of imprisonment that provides a juvenile offender with an opportunity for parole within his or her expected natural lifetime is not the functional equivalent of LWOP and is, therefore, constitutional even absent

consideration of the mitigating factors for juvenile offenders set forth in *Miller*.

As this court has held, the United States Supreme Court requires only that "a state must provide a juvenile offender 'with some realistic opportunity to obtain release' from prison during his or her expected lifetime. [Citation.]" (Caballero, supra, 55 Cal.4th at p. 268, quoting Graham, supra, 560 U.S. at p. 82, emphasis added.) Thus, "sentencing a juvenile offender for a nonhomicide offense to a term of years with a parole eligibility date that falls outside the juvenile offender's natural life expectancy constitutes cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the Eighth Amendment." (Ibid., emphasis added.)

The focus for Eighth Amendment purposes, therefore, is on the possibility for parole at some point during the juvenile offender's natural life expectancy, which this court has defined as "the normal life expectancy of a healthy person of defendant's age and gender living in the United States." (Caballero, 55 Cal.4th at p. 267, fn. 3.) And this focus is logical because, in shaping this area of the law, the high court noted the similarities between life in prison without parole and the death penalty. (See Graham, supra, 130 S.Ct. at p. 2027 ["[L]ife without parole sentences share some characteristics with death sentences that are shared by no other sentences. The State does not execute the offender sentenced to life without parole, but the sentence alters the offender's life by a forfeiture that is irrevocable"], italics added.) Alternatively, a lengthy sentence with a parole date within the juvenile's expected natural lifetime provides the juvenile an opportunity to demonstrate maturity and rehabilitation, thereby providing the juvenile with a meaningful opportunity for release. Unlike an LWOP sentence, a lengthy term of years sentence still gives the juvenile a chance to leave prison before life's end and provides an incentive for the juvenile to become a responsible individual. (See Graham, supra, at p. 79.) Thus,

although the parole hearing date may fall towards the end of appellants' expected natural lifetimes, it is nonetheless a meaningful opportunity to obtain release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation. (*Graham, supra,* at p. 845.) Accordingly, so long as a juvenile offender's parole eligibility date does not fall outside of his or her natural life expectancy, neither *Miller* nor the Eighth Amendment is implicated.

According to the most recent data available from the National Center for Health Statistics, the total life expectancy of a male in the United States is approximately 76.2 years. (Nat. Center for Health Statistics, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Vital Statistics Reps., vol. 63 no. 7, *United States Life Tables, 2010*, table A⁴; see also *People v. Mendez* (2010) 188 Cal.App.4th 47, 62-63 [citing earlier version of report as source for the then-current life expectancy of an 18-year-old American male as 76 years].) Appellants were 16 years old when they committed their crimes. With a 50-year-to-life term, Rodriguez will be 66 years old when first eligible for parole, and Contreras will be 74 years old when first eligible for parole. ⁵ Because it affords appellants an opportunity for parole within their

(continued...)

⁴ Available online at:

http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nvsr/nvsr63/nvsr63_07.pdf
Respondent has separately requested that this court take judicial notice of this data.

⁵ Appellants may also be eligible for a parole hearing at 60 years of age under the CDCR's Elderly Parole Program. In order to comply with a court order from the three judge panel in *Plata v. Davis*, No. 3:01-cv-01351-THE, (a class-action alleging federal constitutional and statutory claims based on alleged inadequacies in the delivery of prison medical care), CDCR has implemented an elderly parole program in which inmates who are 60 years of age, and who have been incarcerated for a minimum of 25 years, or more are eligible for a parole hearing. (See Board of Parole Hearings Elderly Parole Program June 16, 2014 memorandum, available online at:

expected natural lifetimes, a sentence of 50 years to life and 58 years to life is not the functional equivalent of LWOP and therefore may be constitutionally imposed.

Nevertheless, the Court of Appeal reversed appellants' sentences, holding that because the sentences "preclude any possibility of parole until they are at the end of their lifetimes," the sentences "violate the Eighth Amendment under the standards articulated in *Graham*." (Opn. at p. 41.) Yet, Graham requires only that "a state must provide a juvenile offender 'with some realistic opportunity to obtain release' from prison during his or her expected lifetime." (Graham, supra, 560 U.S. at p. 82.) "A State is not required to guarantee eventual freedom to a juvenile offender convicted of a nonhomicide crime." (Id. at p. 75.) By imposing a sentence of 50 years to life and 58 years to life as to these 16-year-old defendants, the trial court sentenced them to a minimum term that does not exceed their natural life expectancy. Accordingly, even without a parole hearing after 25 years of incarceration as provided by Penal Code section 3051, a sentence of 50 years to life and 58 years to life is not the functional equivalent of LWOP and is, therefore, constitutional absent consideration of the mitigating factors for juvenile offenders set forth in Miller. (See Miller, supra, 132 S.Ct. at pp. 2467-2468, 2475 [Eighth Amendment prohibits sentencing a juvenile homicide offender to "mandatory" LWOP without considering the mitigating factors of youth]; cf. Caballero, supra, 55 Cal.4th at pp. 267-268

^{(...}continued)
http://www.cdcr.ca.gov/BOPH/docs/Policy/Elderly_Parole_Program_Overview.pdf.)

Respondent has separately requested that this court take judicial notice of this memorandum.

[prohibiting a term-of-years sentence that amounts to the "functional equivalent" of LWOP].)

CONCLUSION

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