IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE)	, U
OF CALIFORNIA) No	o. S22456 5 ^{\(\)}
Plaintiff and Respondent,)	
) Co	urt of Appeal
v.) No	o. D063428
)	
LEONEL CONTRERAS and)	
WILLIAM STEVEN RODRIGUEZ,)	
Defendants and Appellants.)	
)	SUPREME COURT
		FILED
Fourth Appellate Distric	t, Division Or	ne JAN 2 0 2017
San Diego County Case No. SCD236438		38
The Honorable Peter C.	Deddeh, Judg	e Jorge Navarrete Clerk
		Deputy

APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY J. KING
California State Bar No. 163477
1901 First Avenue, Suite 138
San Diego, CA 92101
(858) 755-5258
njking51@gmail.com
Attorney for appellant CONTRERAS
By Appointment of the Supreme

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

ARGUMENT

MR. CONTRERAS'S SENTENCE OF 58 YEARS TO LIFE VIOLATES THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT BECAUSE FOR A JUVENILE OFFENDER IT IS THE FUNCTIONAL EQUIVALENT OF LIFE WITHOUT THE POSSIBILITY OF PAROLE

A. Procedural And Factual Background

Appellant, born on January 16, 1995, was 16 years old at the time of the offense. His attorney argued in a sentencing motion that an indeterminate sentence violated the Eighth Amendment, as well as article I, § 17 of the California Constitution. (3 C.T. 760.) He presented reports by two mental health professionals that concluded he was not a sexual deviant, and showed no predisposition to sexual assault. He had no significant prior criminal history, and no prior history of sexual offenses. (3 C.T. 768-770, 780-805.)

At the hearing, counsel asked for a determinate sentence, or alternatively 15 to life. (16 R.T. 2928.) The court rejected the constitutional argument, and imposed consecutive terms of 25 to life, telling appellant, "You don't get a free victim." (16 R.T. 2935.) The court also imposed 8 years for use of a knife. (*Ibid.*)

On appeal, the Court of Appeal recognized the rationale that "children are constitutionally different from adults for purposes of sentencing. . . ," and that "the penological goals of retribution, deterrence, incapacitation, and rehabilitation do not provide

adequate justification for sentences of life without parole for juvenile nonhomicide offenders." (Slip Op., at pp. 38-39, citing *Guttierez*, *supra*, 58 Cal.4^a at p. 1375 and *Graham*, *supra*, at p. 71.) The court also noted that this court held in *Caballero* that categorical ban on LWOP also applies to aggregate sentences that are the functional equivalent. (Slip Op. at p. 40, citing *Caballero*, *supra*, 55 Cal.4^a at p. 268.) The court concluded:

Pending further guidance, we must consider the constitutional propriety of Rodriguez's and Contreras's sentences in light of the two interrelated requirements underpinning *Graham*'s holding: (1) a state must give a juvenile nonhomicide offender a realistic chance to demonstrate maturity and reform, and (2) a state may not decide at the time of sentencing a juvenile nonhomicide offender is 'irredeemable' and 'never will be fit to reenter society.' (Graham, supra, 560 U.S. at pp 75, 79, 82.) Rodriguez's and Contreras's sentences do not meet either requirement. Even under an optimistic projection of their life expectancies, the sentences preclude any possibility of parole until they are near the end of their lifetimes as the parties agree Rodriguez will be 66 and Contreras will be 74 when they are first eligible for parole. This falls short of giving them the realistic chance for release contemplated by Graham. Instead, the sentences tend to reflect a judgment Rodriguez and Contreras are irretrievably incorrigible. While this judgment may ultimately prove to be correct, it is not one Graham permits to be made at the outset.

Accordingly, we conclude the sentences violate the Eighth Amendment under the standards articulated in Graham.

(Slip Op. at pp. 40-41.)

Appellant now asks this court to affirm the Court of Appeal's opinion.

- B. A Mandatory Sentence Of Life Without The
 Possibility Of Parole, Or Its Functional Equivalent,
 Violates The Eighth Amendment When Imposed For
 A Crime Committed By A Juvenile Offender
 - 1. Roper, Graham, and Miller Established That Juvenile Offenders Have A Different Level of Culpability and Must Be Given The Opportunity To Demonstrate Maturation And Rehabilitation

Over the last decade, beginning with *Roper*, the United States Supreme Court has grappled with whether the Constitution's ban on cruel and unusual punishment prohibits the harshest punishments when the offender committed crimes as a juvenile. The high court determined that the Eighth Amendment does mandate that children must be treated differently than adults when sentenced for very serious offenses.

The court relied in large part on a body of medical and social science research that shows significant and fundamental differences between the workings of adult and juvenile minds. (*Miller*, 132 S.Ct. at p. 2646; *Graham*, 560 U.S. at p. 68.) In *Graham*, for example, the court commented:

... developments in psychology and brain science continue to show fundamental differences between juvenile and adult minds. For example, parts of the brain involved in behavior control continue to mature through late adolescence. Juveniles are also more capable of change than are adults, and their actions are less likely to be evidence of irretrievably depraved character than are actions of adults.

(Graham, 560 U.S. at p. 68.)

The Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution states: "Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted." In *Roper v. Simmons, supra,* 543 U.S. 551, the high court held that the death penalty cannot be inflicted on a person who was under 18 when he committed a capital crime. In *Graham v. Florida, supra,* 560 U.S. 48, the court held that a punishment of LWOP inflicted on a minor for a non-homicide offense constitutes cruel and usual punishment. And in *Miller v. Alabama, supra,* 132 S.Ct. 2455, 183, it held the Eighth Amendment is violated when a mandatory LWOP sentence is imposed on a minor who commits murder.

These cases are based on three factors that distinguish adults from juveniles and make juveniles less deserving of the most severe punishments: (1) children have a lack of maturity and an underdeveloped sense of responsibility that lead to recklessness, impulsivity and heedless risk-taking; (2) children are more

vulnerable to negative influences and outside pressures, have limited control over their own environment and lack the ability to extricate themselves from horrific crime-producing settings; and (3) a child's character is not as formed as an adult's and his actions are less likely to be evidence of irretrievable depravity. (*Miller*, *supra*, 132 S.Ct. at p. 2464.)

An amicus brief filed in *Miller* by the American Medical Association and the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry described the difference between an adult and juvenile offender in more detail:

The differences in behavior have been documented by scientists along several dimensions. Scientists have found that adolescents as a group, even at later stages of adolescence, are more likely than adults to engage in risky, impulsive, and sensation-seeking behavior. This is, in part, because they overvalue short-term benefits and rewards, and are less capable of controlling their impulses making them susceptible to acting in a reflexive rather than a planned voluntary manner. Adolescents are also more emotionally volatile and susceptible to stress and peer influences. In short, the average adolescent cannot be expected to act with the same control or foresight as a mature adult.

Behavioral scientists have observed these differences for some time, but only recently have studies provided an understanding of the neurobiological underpinnings for why adolescents act the way they do. For example, brain imaging studies reveal that adolescents generally exhibit greater neural reactivity than adults or children in areas of the brain that promote risky and reward-based behavior. These studies also demonstrate that the brain continues to mature, both structurally and functionally, throughout adolescence in regions of the brain responsible for controlling thoughts, actions, and emotions. Together, these studies indicate that the adolescent period poses vulnerabilities to risk taking behavior but, importantly, that this is a temporary stage.²

While the State is not required to guarantee a juvenile offender eventual freedom, the State must provide such offenders "some meaningful opportunity to obtain release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation." (Graham, 560 U.S. at p. 75, emphasis added.) In other words, while the Eighth Amendment may not completely foreclose the possibility of a juvenile offender spending his entire life behind bars, it forbids "States from making the judgment at the outset that those offenders never will be fit to reenter society." (Id. at p. 75.)

In *Miller*, the high court extended *Graham's* reasoning to homicide offenses, concluding that a life-without-parole sentence

As of January 10, 2017, the full text of the brief was accessible at http://fairsentencingofyouth.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/01/ac-10-9646-10-9647-Brief-for-the-American-Medical-Association-et-al.pdf.

imposed on a child may violate the Eighth Amendment. *Graham's* categorical ban on life without parole sentences for juveniles only applies to non-homicide offenses, but the mitigating factors of youth discussed in *Graham* implicate any life-without-parole sentence for a juvenile. (*Miller*, 132 S.Ct. at 2465.) Consequently, *Miller* held that when a penalty scheme mandates imposition of life without parole sentence for any crime committed as a juvenile without considering the mitigating factors of youth, it violates the Eighth Amendment. (*Id.* at p. 2466.)

While *Miller* left open a possibility that some juvenile homicide offenders will have shown by their crimes to be irreparably corrupt (and, thus, deserving of a life without parole sentence), the high court held that proper occasions for such a sentence will be uncommon. (*Id.* at p. 2469.)

2. Caballero and Gutierrez Apply the High Court's Rationale to Terms that are the Functional Equivalent to Life Without Parole

In *Caballero*, this court addressed the applicability of *Graham* and *Miller* to a term-of-years sentence (110 years to life), under which the offender's first parole eligibility date is expected to occur outside the offender's natural life expectancy. (*Caballero*, 55 Cal.4th at p. 267, fn. 3.) *Caballero* held that such a sentence violates the Eighth Amendment. (*Id.* at p. 268.) In so doing, this court rejected the Attorney General's narrow interpretation of *Graham* as

inapplicable to a case in which the sentence is not explicitly "without parole." (*Ibid.*)

While *Caballero* dealt with a functional life without parole sentence for a non-homicide offence, this court acknowledged *Miller's* dictate that offenders convicted of homicide committed as juveniles cannot receive a mandatory life without parole sentence. (*Caballero*, 55 Cal.4th. at p. 268, fn. 4.) Later, in *Gutierrez*, 58 Cal.4th 1354, this court formally extended the protections of an individualized *Miller* sentencing hearing to a case in which the defendant was convicted of first degree special circumstance murder when he was a juvenile. (*Id.* at p. 1390.)

3. In Franklin, this Court Holds that Section 3051
Provides a Hope of Parole for all Offenders Except
Those in Appellant's Position, Despite the High
Court's Mandate that Appellant Be Afforded a
Reasonable Opportunity to Demonstrate His
Suitability for Parole

In *People v. Franklin*, this court granted review to answer two questions: "Does Penal Code section 3051 moot Franklin's constitutional challenge to his sentence by requiring that he receive a parole hearing during his 25th year of incarceration? If not, then does the state's sentencing scheme, which required the trial court to sentence Franklin to 50 years to life in prison for his crimes, violate Miller's prohibition against mandatory LWOP sentences for juveniles?" (*Franklin*, *supra*, 63 Cal.4^a at p. 268.) Because this court

answered the first question in the affirmative, it did not need to address the second question, leaving that for another day. (*Ibid.*) The day has arrived.

Section 3051 took effect on January 1, 2014, after the California Legislature, in response to *Graham, Miller*, and *Caballero*, enacted Senate Bill 260 regarding youth offender parole hearings. Stats 2013 ch 312 provides:

SECTION 1. The Legislature finds and declares that, as stated by the United States Supreme Court in *Miller v*. Alabama (2012) 183 L.Ed.2d 407, 'only a relatively small proportion of adolescents' who engage in illegal activity 'develop entrenched patterns of problem behavior,' and that 'developments in psychology and brain science continue to show fundamental differences between juvenile and adult minds,' including 'parts of the brain involved in behavior control.' The Legislature recognizes that youthfulness both lessens a juvenile's moral culpability and enhances the prospect that, as a youth matures into an adult and neurological development occurs, these individuals can become contributing members of society. The purpose of this act is to establish a parole eligibility mechanism that provides a person serving a sentence for crimes that he or she committed as a juvenile the opportunity to obtain release when he or she has shown that he or she has been rehabilitated and gained maturity, in accordance with the decision of the California Supreme Court in People v. Caballero (2012) 55 Cal.4th 262 and the decisions of the United States Supreme Court in *Graham v. Florida* (2010) 560 U.S. 48, and *Miller v. Alabama* (2012) 183 L.Ed.2d 407. Nothing in this act is intended to undermine the California Supreme Court's holdings in *In re Shaputis* (2011) 53 Cal.4th 192, *In re Lawrence* (2008) 44 Cal.4th 1181, and subsequent cases. It is the intent of the Legislature to create a process by which growth and maturity of youthful offenders can be assessed and a meaningful opportunity for release established.

(2013 Cal ALS 312, 2013 Cal SB 260, 2013 Cal Stats. ch. 312.)

Under section 3051, for individuals convicted of a crime committed before age 18, the Board of Parole Hearings ("the Board") is required to conduct a first youthful offender parole hearing in the 15th, 20th, or 25th year of the offender's incarceration. (§ 3051, subd. (b)(1).) For individuals like the defendant, Tyris Franklin, who received a base term of 25 to life, plus 25 for use of a gun, the youthful parole hearing would be in his 25th year of incarceration. (§ 3051, subd. (b)(3).) If not granted parole at his first hearing, the Board will set a subsequent parole hearing date for Franklin three to fifteen years from the date of denial of parole, unless the Board makes a discretionary finding that an earlier parole hearing date is appropriate. (§ 3041.5, subds. (b)(3) and (4).)

This court found that the new statutory provisions, which ensured Franklin a parole hearing after 25 years, was adequate to cure any constitutional deficiency with his sentence, if he was afforded at the time of his sentencing "sufficient opportunity to make a record of information relevant to his eventual youth offender parole hearing." (*Franklin*, *supra*, 63 Cal.4° at p. 284.)

The Legislature passed Senate Bill 260 for the express purpose of addressing the constitutional issues raised in *Graham*, and it covers the most serious of crimes – homicides – even though that is the one category of crime not entirely prohibited from a term of life without parole. However, it expressly excluded offenses such as those committed in the instant case, leaving it to this court to provide a remedy that aligns with the Constitution.

C. <u>Appellant's Mandatory Sentence Of 58 Years To Life Violates Miller And Graham</u>

Appellant will be 74 when he becomes eligible for parole. The question is whether having the first opportunity for release at that age violates either the letter or the spirit of the Supreme Court's mandate that a juvenile offender be given a meaningful opportunity for parole.

The Attorney General cites Centers for Disease Control statistics that the total life expectancy of a male in the United States is approximately 76.2 years, and argues since appellant will have a parole hearing approximately two years before he is expected to die, "a sentence of 50 years to life and 58 years to life is not the functional equivalent of LWOP and therefore may be constitutionally

imposed." (BOM at pp. 9-10.) The Attorney General's argument is flawed.

1. The Attorney General's Argument Ignores the High Court's Intent to Give a Youthful Offender the Opportunity to Show Maturity and Rehabilitation

The *Graham* court insisted on a categorical rule that "gives all juvenile nonhomicide offenders a chance to demonstrate maturity and reform. The juvenile should not be deprived of the opportunity to achieve maturity of judgment and self-recognition of human worth and potential." (*Graham*, *supra*, at p. 79.) "A young person who knows that he or she has no chance to leave prison before life's end has little incentive to become a responsible individual." (*Ibid.*) It is safe to assume that a teenager entering prison with no hope of release for almost 60 years sees no light at the end of the tunnel, and similarly has little to no incentive to "become a responsible individual."

What led *Graham* to categorically ban life without parole sentences for nonhomicides and *Miller* to prohibit mandatory imposition of such sentences for homicide offenses is that it "alters the offender's life by forfeiture that is irrevocable," without giving hope that good behavior and character improvement would give a meaningful possibility of a release. (*Graham*, 560 U.S. at p. 70.) *Graham* contrasted such a sentence with a life sentence that survived an 8th Amendment challenge in *Rummel v. Estelle* (1983) 445 U.S.

263, reasoning that the sentence provided for the possibility of parole after twelve years.

Because the sentences imposed in this case offer both defendants nothing more than a hope for a "geriatric release," such prospect is not likely to create an incentive for rehabilitation and character improvement. (*Graham*, 560 U.S. at p. 70.) Turning the inquiry regarding meaningful opportunity to obtain parole into an actuarial analysis, as proposed by the Attorney General, misses the rationale of *Graham* and *Miller*, and does not provide these boys any hope that their efforts at rehabilitation and character improvement will pay off with the opportunity for life after prison.

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